ASSESSING APPROACH MOTIVATION IN DEPRESSED INDIVIDUALS WITH A HISTORY OF CONCUSSION

APPROVED BY SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Madhukar Trivedi, MD (Committee Co-Chair)

Munro Cullum, PhD (Committee Co-Chair)

Crystal Cooper, PhD

Tracy Greer, PhD

Radu Pop, PhD

Thomas Carmody, PhD

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my beloved husband.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am exceedingly grateful to the Center for Depression Research and Clinical Care and The Hersh Foundation for making critical advances in depression treatment possible. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Madhukar Trivedi, who has taught me innumerable life lessons since 2014, and Dr. Munro Cullum, who has joyfully mentored me from the moment I walked into his office. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Crystal Cooper for the time and energy she dedicated to helping me grow as a researcher. Additional thanks belong to Dr. Tracy Greer, Dr. Thomas Carmody and Dr. Radu Pop, who provided essential direction and ongoing encouragement throughout the entire process. I would also like to thank the D2K teams who aided in recruitment and data collection of the D2K sample.

I would also like to thank the following people, without whom this project could not have happened:

- My husband, Preston Cecil, for providing unwavering support throughout this process.
- My friends and family, who have been with me every step of the way.

Audrey Cecil, 2020

ASSESSING APPROACH MOTIVATION IN DEPRESSED INDIVIDUALS WITH A HISTORY OF CONCUSSION

by

AUDREY LORRAINE CECIL

DISSERTATION DEFENSE

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas

Dallas, Texas

December 2020

Copyright

by

Audrey L. Cecil, 2020

All Rights Reserved

ASSESSING APPROACH MOTIVATION IN DEPRESSED INDIVIDUALS WITH A HISTORY OF CONCUSSION

Publication No.

Audrey Lorraine Cecil, MS

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, 2020

Supervising Professors: Madhukar Trivedi, MD and Munro Cullum, PhD

Depression is the leading cause of disability worldwide. Anhedonia, a core symptom of depression, has been described as a lack of pleasure or interest, though it is a much more complex process than simply lack of pleasure. Anhedonia is made up of anticipation, motivation, enjoyment, and learning related to rewards. When an individual's motivation is impaired, reward perception is blunted as the drive to work for it is reduced. This "approach motivation" is generally subserved by the ventral striatum and orbitofrontal cortex, two areas which can be affected in a variety of neurologic conditions, including traumatic brain injury, as these subcortical structures can be affected by pathophysiological sequalae of trauma. To explore this concept, we examined data from a large ongoing study of adult depression (Dallas 2K). A total of 110 participants with depression with (n=40) and without a history (n=70) of self-reported concussion were tested on a measure of approach motivation, the Energy Expenditure for Rewards Task (EEfRT). We also analyzed depression symptom severity and the relationship between anhedonia severity to approach motivation on the EEfRT. Results revealed no significant differences between depressed adults with and without a history of concussion on approach motivation. Exploratory analyses revealed differences between high and low

depression severity groups, such that high depression severity participants were less likely to select low probability/high reward tasks, but this was irrespective of concussion history. Though the main study results were nonsignificant, exploratory analyses present an opportunity for future direction of studies related to approach motivation and cognition in co-morbid depression and concussion.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER ONE, INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	13
DEPRESSION	15
ANHEDONIA	17
REWARD	17
APPROACH MOTIVATION	20
CONCUSSION	24
CONCUSSION, DEPRESSION, AND REWARD	26
SUMMARY	27
AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	29
CHAPTER TWO, METHODOLOGY	29
PARTICIPANTS	31
MEASURES	30
STATISTICAL ANALYSES	34
PRIMARY AIMS	35
CHAPTER THREE, RESULTS	36
SAMPLE	36
PRIMARY AIM RESULTS	37
EXPLORATORY AIM RESULTS	38
CHAPTER FOUR, DISCUSSION	40
LIMITATIONS	44
CONCLUSION	47
BIBLIOGRAPHY	53

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1. CONSORT DIAGRAM	46
FIGURE 2. LOW PROBABILITY/HIGH REWARD CHOICE	.47
FIGURE 3. EEfRT COMPLETION RATE & AVERAGE RESPONSE TIME	.48

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. DEMOGRAPHICS AND CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF SAMPLE	49
TABLE 2. OVERALL PROPORTION OF EEfRT HARD TASK CHOICES, AIM 1A.	50
TABLE 3. OVERALL PROPORTION OF EEfRT HARD TASK CHOICES, AIM 1B.	51
TABLE 4. EFFECT OF CONCUSSION HISTORY ON ADDITIONAL EEfRT VARL	ABLES
OF INTEREST	51

LIST OF DEFINITIONS

- ANCOVA Analysis of Covariance
- D2K- Dallas 2K longitudinal study
- EEG Electroencephalogram
- EEfRT- Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task
- **ERP-** Evoked Response Potentials
- fMRI Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- LFA- Left Frontal Activity
- LOC Loss of Consciousness
- MDD- Major Depressive Disorder
- MRI- Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- mTBI Mild Traumatic Brain Injury
- OFC- Orbitofrontal Cortex
- PCS- Post-concussive syndrome
- PHQ-9- Patient Health Questionnaire-9
- TBI Traumatic Brain Injury
- TECH Texas Evaluation of Concussion History

CHAPTER ONE Introduction

Depression is the leading cause of disability worldwide, with a major depressive episode occurring in 7.1% individuals during their lifetime. Factors that increase the likelihood of a major depressive episode include female gender, age 18-25, and identifying with more than one race. Sixty-three percent of those with a major depressive episode describe their impairment as severe, and 35% of people with a major depressive episode do not receive treatment (NIMH, 2019). Despite ongoing research efforts, the complexities of depression limit our understanding of its mechanisms. In order to offer more effective treatment solutions, further research is needed to better comprehend the neurobiological underpinnings of the disorder.

Major depression is diagnosed by the presence of a constellation of symptoms, of which depressed mood and loss of interest or pleasure (anhedonia) serve as hallmark indicators (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Depression can manifest in typical or atypical fashion, which poses a significant challenge to treatment. For example, one person with depression may have a depressed mood and fatigue, poor sleep, psychomotor slowing, and difficulty with concentration, whereas another may have anhedonia as the core symptom along with fatigue, loss of appetite, suicidality, and feelings of guilt or worthlessness; both presentations warrant a major depressive disorder (MDD) diagnosis, but may necessitate different treatments. Anhedonia (the loss of interest or pleasure), one of the hallmark indicators of depression, is considered a key psychopathological endophenotype in MDD (Craske, 2016; Hasler et al., 2004) and its presence predicts a worse course of MDD in adults (Spijker, Bijl, de Graaf, & Nolen, 2001; Wardenaar, Giltay, van Veen, Zitman, & Penninx, 2012). Anhedonia is particularly important to examine, not only because of its implications within depression, but

also because of its complexity. The pursuit and experience of pleasure involves the following: a desire or wanting of a reward, expectation or anticipation of a reward, motivation to obtain the desired reward, effort used to sustain energy to attain the award, and enjoyment of the reward (Der Avakian, 2016). These elements of reward can be divided into two different domains of pleasure. While one domain is related to obtaining pleasure (motivation), the other is related to enjoyment (or consumption) of pleasure. Research suggests that reward impairments related to motivation are more deeply rooted in depression compared to the impairment of enjoyment of reward (Treadway & Zald, 2011). Dopamine is implicated in the motivational aspect of pleasure, which is an entirely different system than consummatory pleasure that is driven by opioids. When motivation to obtain rewards is diminished, depression may emerge or worsen because there is no driving force to seek out pleasure. There are disease processes that are known to disrupt the dopamine pathway, such as schizophrenia, drug addiction, and Parkinson's disease (Bressan & Crippa, 2005; Holcomb & Rowland, 2007; Moran et al., 2019), which is implicated in deficits in motivation (Barch, 2005; McGuigan, 2019). If impairment in motivation is inherent in these dopamine-related diseases, it is possible that a defect to the dopamine pathway by means of pathophysiological disturbance such as excitatory-inhibitory balance, axonal dysfunction, or inflammation (Giza, Grico, & Prins, 2018) resulting from mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI), could influence motivation. Depressive symptoms are not uncommon following mTBI and can appear soon after injury or emerge later, and premorbid mood disorders can contribute to onset of depressive disorder after concussion (Yrondi, Brauge, LeMen, Arbus, & Pariente, 2017). Most symptoms of concussion, such as headache, dizziness, and fatigue often remit within a few days to a month (Lovell et al., 2006), though some individuals experience

persistent symptoms (Vanderploeg, Curtiss, Luis, & Salazar, 2007). There are multiple theories related to persistent post-concussive symptoms, but there is a lack of clarity because of the overlapping nature of the symptoms in multiple other conditions. Since depression can be seen following mTBI/concussion (Scholten et al., 2016), and because motivation is often impaired in depression, it could be hypothesized that motivation impairment may also play a role in persistence of post-concussive symptoms.

One aspect of reward impairment that merits greater attention in depression is *approach motivation*, as this is a potentially modifiable treatment target. Research suggests that depressive symptoms in adults are associated with deficits in motivation for pleasurable stimuli, as well as impairments in ability to modulate behavior for it (approach motivation) (Romer-Thomsen et al., 2015; Whitton, Treadway, & Pizzagalli, 2015). Standard behavioral depression treatments such as behavioral activation will be more challenging if a person's approach motivation is impaired, as they will be less likely to seek out reward. If a person has depression and a history of concussion, it is unknown whether their approach motivation may be further impacted. Further understanding of how motivation is expressed in depression, as well as in depression with concussion/mTBIs, may help clarify the impact of reward behavior. This research is designed to further contribute to the field of evidence-based understanding of mental illness by examining the behaviors related to motivation in the context of depression and concussion.

Review of the Literature

DEPRESSION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) affects more than 300 million people globally, and approximately 7% of adults and 13% of adolescents within the U.S. within a given year (NIMH,

2016). Depression is currently ranked as the leading cause of disability worldwide. The financial burden of depression has risen, increasing from \$173.2 billion in 2005 to \$210.5 billion in 2010, an increase of 21.5% over this period (Greenberg et al., 2015). This is due to the increase in MDD prevalence from 13.8 million in 2005 to 15.4 million in 2010, with the largest increase in the 50+ age range. The financial burden of this disease is largely due to loss of work and health care costs (Greenberg et al., 2015).

Not only are the financial implications significant, but the effects of depression on an individual's life can be overwhelming. Individuals with depression often describe numbness, disconnection, and a lack of enjoyment of their lives. Depression leads to a heightened risk of suicide, as hopelessness and more severe pathology are associated with increased suicidal ideation (Hawton, Comabella, Haw, & Saunders, 2013), as does substance use and psychosis (Bachmann, 2018),

Symptoms of depression include a down or depressed mood, loss of pleasure or interest (anhedonia), change in sleep/appetite/activity, difficulty paying attention and concentrating, feelings of guilt and worthlessness, thoughts of death/suicidality, and fatigue (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Depression is difficult to treat and has an approximately 30% remission rate (Trivedi et al., 2006), and those who require more treatment steps tend to have higher relapse rates (Rush et al., 2006). Earlier onset of MDD is associated with greater impairment (Zisook et al., 2007), which makes early detection and intervention of greater importance.

ANHEDONIA

One of the hallmark symptoms of depression is anhedonia (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), which is likely to be present among individuals entering a depressive episode (Iacoviello et al., 2010) and affects approximately 37% of those with depression (Pelizza & Ferrari, 2009). Anhedonia is considered a key psychopathological endophenotype in MDD (Craske at al., 2016; Hasler et al., 2004) and its presence predicts a worse course of MDD (Spijker, Bijl, de Graaf, & Nolen, 2001; Wardenaar, Giltay, van Veen, Zitman, & Penninx, 2012). Further, anhedonia is a predictor of non-response to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) (McMakin et al., 2012; Rush et al., 2009), thus inhibiting the most prevalent pharmacological treatment. Anhedonia was once modestly described as an inability to experience pleasure (Ribot, 1986), though this criterion has expanded to include a significantly broader system of processes. Anhedonia is a sum of its parts, including desire or wanting of a reward, expectation or anticipation of a reward, motivation to obtain the desired reward, effort used to sustain energy to attain the award, and enjoyment of and learning about the reward (Der Avakian, 2016). Generally, the reward cycle can be categorized by anticipation, motivation, consuming, and learning, known as the reward processing system (Schultz, 2015).

REWARD

Dysfunction in reward anticipation has been identified as a significant contributor to depression (Treadway & Zald, 2011). Treadway and Zald (2011) suggested that anhedonia during the course of a major depressive episode is indicative of an impairment to the cost/benefit decision making due to over-estimation of effort required to obtain reward, under-estimation of the benefits, or a failure of cost/benefit analysis, which influences one's motivation to pursue the reward. Several other studies have suggested that MDD symptoms are associated with reduced

reward anticipation (Chentsova-Dutton & Hanley, 2010; McFarland & Klein, 2009; Sherdell, Waugh, & Gotlib, 2012). Costello (1972) explained that depression, from a behavioral perspective, is due to a loss of reward or a loss of interest in the environment. Further, Alloy (2016) posits that individuals have trait-like individual characteristics that make them vulnerable to depression, including hyposensitivity to reward. Validating this point, both adults and youth experiencing depressive episodes report reduced pleasure sensitivity and increased anhedonia in comparison to individuals without depression (Fawcett, Clark, Scheftner & Gibbons, 1983; Luby, Mrakotsky, Heffelfinger, Brown, & Spitznagel, 2004). Experimental evidence suggests that depressive symptoms in adults are associated with deficits in motivation for pleasurable stimuli, as well as the ability to modulate behavior for it, more so than the absence of pleasure when confronted with pleasurable stimuli (Romer-Thomsen et al., 2015, Whitton, Treadway, & Pizzagalli, 2015).

Bakker et al. (2017) utilized real-time data to assess reward as it plays out in daily life using a device that semi-randomly beeps, inviting participants to fill out a short questionnaire on mood, context, and behavior related to positive affect, reward anticipation, and active behavior. The participants (N=133) were age 16-25 and two-thirds had subclinical depressive symptoms. Results showed that more reward anticipation was associated with more positive affect, which in turn predicted higher active behavior. This was the case in the opposite direction as well, with reduced reward anticipation being associated with negative affect and reduced activity. The associations that were not significant between reward anticipation and active behavior were the ones that were moderated by the total depression scale score, suggesting that higher depression severity is associated with deficits in how reward anticipation and active behavior influence one another (Bakker et al., 2017).

Approximately four decades ago, the "anhedonia hypothesis" was coined by Wise and colleagues (Wise et al., 1978; Wise, 1982) to describe the role of dopamine as a mediator between the pleasure produced by drugs and food, which, when suppressed or impaired, reduces the perception of pleasure. However, since this initial publication, several other alternative dopamine theories arose, including the reward prediction theory (Schultz, Dayan, & Montague, 1997; Schultz, 2002) in which dopamine serves as the signal for incongruency between the reward that was received versus the reward that was expected. The incentive salience theory suggested dopamine's role was to provide information about the perceived incentive value of rewarding stimuli (Berridge, 1996; Berridge & Robinson, 1998). Recent research has revealed that these theories do not fully account for the complexity of the interaction of neural systems that constitute the pleasure experience, as this is a complex construct. Der-Avakian et al. (2016) discussed the linear processes that must take place prior to an experience of pleasure; one must anticipate or expect a future reward, determine the potential value of said reward, evaluate the cost to obtain the reward, become motivated to seek to obtain it, and to learn from prior experience to repeat pleasurable approach behaviors again. Within this process, any dysfunction of the reward system can take place, which may *clinically* appear as "anhedonia." It may be of importance to correctly distinguish the aspect of failure within the pleasure process to then facilitate appropriate treatment, as different aspects of the reward system impact different neural substrates. Approach motivation is of particular interest in this study, due to lack of desire to work for a reward, potentially complicating standard depression treatments.

APPROACH MOTIVATION

Approach motivation, or effort expenditure for reward, appears to involve specific neural circuity (Der-Avakian & Markou, 2012). Approach motivation is driven by dopaminergic circuity (Salamone & Correa, 2012; Schultz, 2016; Treadway et al., 2012) and rewards such as foods and sweet tastes activate the mesolimbic dopamine system in animal studies (Berridge, 1996, Kelley and Berridge 2002; Salamone et al., 2003). The wanting phase of reward dominates the appetitive state, or anticipation of a reward, while enjoyment occurs during the consummatory phase when confronted with the reward (Romer-Thomsen, Whybrow, & Kringelback, 2015), such as listening to a favorite song or eating something desirable. In animal studies exploring effort-based decision making, dopamine interference has predicted an animal's choice of a low-cost, low-reward food, versus a high-cost, high-reward food (Denk et al., 2005; Salamone, Correa, Farrar & Mingote, 2007). Stimulation of dopamine through pharmacological means increases high cost, high reward choices (Bardgett, Depenbrock, Downs, Points, & Green, 2009). Conversely, consummatory pleasure is generally facilitated by opioid driven processes (Barbano & Cador, 2007; Schneider, Heise, & Spangel, 2010), meaning that the enjoyment of food, or a song, or artwork is driven by opioids, whereas dopamine is implicated in the pursuit of those rewards. Both anticipation and consumption of reward are important aspects of anhedonia, though for the purpose of this study, the focus is on the anticipatory pleasure system, namely approach motivation.

The implicated neuronal correlates of the pleasure system include the ventral striatum and orbitofrontal cortex (OFC). The ventral striatum appears to play a central role in obtaining primary and secondary rewards, such as food and money, respectively. To illustrate, 20 healthy

controls and 32 euthymic bipolar I (N=17) and bipolar II (N=15) patients underwent a neuroimaging reward paradigm during functional MRI scanning, structural scanning, and completed psychometric and clinical assessments, and results suggested that higher self-reported reward sensitivity has been associated with elevated ventral striatum activity during reward anticipation (Caseras, Lawrence, Murphy, Wise & Phillips, 2013). The OFC is implicated in assessing the probability of those rewards (Haber & Knutson, 2010), as the ventral striatum receives its main input from the OFC and anterior cingulate cortex. A meta-analysis of 22 functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies examining reward-related processing in 341 MDD patients and 367 healthy controls revealed that individuals with depression tended to show reduced ventral striatum response to monetary and other positive stimuli for both anticipation and receipt of rewards (Zhang, Chang, Guo, Zhang, & Wang, 2013). Ultimately, these works provide evidence for reward hyposensitivity and related constructs as correlates of depression. However, as noted by Alloy (2016), these studies do not address whether this hyposensitivity is a trait that is independent of a depressive episode and precedes the development of the disorder, or whether it is an effect of the depression. Studies examining behavioral measures of reward sensitivity have generally supported the sensitivity as mooddependent, with no differences found between never-depressed controls and those with remitted depression (Westheide et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014). However, there have also been studies that provide evidence for mood-independent influences on reward functioning using fMRI when depressive episodes are remitted (Dichter, Kozink, McClernon, & Smoski, 2012; Schiller, Minkel, Smoski, & Dichter, 2013; Takahashi et al., 2009).

In general, individual differences in left frontal activity (LFA) were demonstrated to be connected with the mesolimbic dopaminergic neural pathways in healthy adults utilizing dopamine antagonists (Wacker, 2013). Hughes, Yates, Morton, and Smillie (2014) examined the effects of LFA on behavioral output related specifically to approach behavior, rather than solely as a neural component affecting mood states or expectations of behavior. Utilizing EEG to determine LFA, they measured approach behavior utilizing the proportion of hard-task choices on the Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EFfRT) (Treadway et al., 2009), a task designed to measure approach motivation and the focal task in the current study, suggesting that LFA is linked to behavioral pursuit of reward. More significant LFA was associated with increased willingness to choose the harder task, and thus expend greater energy to achieve a larger reward. Further elucidating this idea, Tomer (2014) found that asymmetry of D2 dopamine receptor binding capacity within frontal and striatal brain regions predicted sensitivity to reward and punishment. More specifically, greater left asymmetry (greater left frontal activity) was correlated with reward responsiveness and behaviors like reward approach, whereas greater right asymmetry was associated with withdrawal-like affect. In a study by Shankman, Klein, Tenke, and Bruder (2007), frontal and parietal EEG activity were assessed while depressed and nondepressed participants completed a gambling task, resulting in differences in left frontal asymmetry. There were no group differences on frontal EEG activation; however, the early onset depression group displayed left frontal asymmetry. Offspring of depressed parents demonstrated greater right, relative to left, frontal activation in infant samples (Thibodeau, Jorgensen, & Kim, 2006). Though there are mixed findings, the result of a meta-analysis suggests that depression is

characterized by heightened right activation (Thibodeau et al., 2006) and is better characterized by the withdrawal-affect (Alloy, 2016), leading individuals to pursue reward less frequently. Further, evoked response potentials (ERPs) have also been used to analyze neurophysiological correlates of depression. Essentially, an ERP is an electroencephalograph (EEG) with embedded electrical potentials that occur in preparation for or in response to internal or external events (Alloy, 2016). Feedback-related negativity (FRN), as part of ERP, has recently gained support as an indicator of sensitivity to reward referred to as *reward positivity* evidenced by mesocorticolimbic reward circuit activation (Proudfit, 2015). Thus, an elevated FRN has been associated with elevated reward sensitivity, and reduced FRN with decreased reward sensitivity. Liu et al. (2014) and Keren et al. (2018) reported that depressed individuals had a blunted FRN relative to individuals without depression.

The reward system is multifaceted and complex. Though a full understanding of its networks is yet to be understood, an important consideration of reward is how it is impacted when there is an additional insult, such as concussion, in addition to a diagnosis of depression. Concussions are relatively common occurrences, and for a subset of individuals, depression arises or worsens as a consequence (Yrondi, Brauge, LeMen, Arbus, & Pariente, 2017). Due to the relationship in brain regions implicated in both depression and concussion, and the potential for post-concussive symptoms such as depression to develop, this relationship was further evaluated in regard to approach motivation.

CONCUSSION

Concussion or mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI), is a head trauma that is characterized by confusion, disorientation, and sometimes loss of consciousness (LOC), accounting for 92% of TBI events in the general population (Leibson et al., 2011). Following acute injury to the brain, a state of disarray caused by a neurometabolic cascade can lead to a variety of symptoms (McCrea, 2008). Generally, a mTBI is considered to be a transient process that one quickly recovers from (McCrea, 2008). Most symptoms of concussion, such as headache, dizziness, and fatigue often remit between a few days to a month (Lovell et al., 2006), with a typical time course to remission of 10-14 days (Giza, Grico, & Prins, 2018; McCrory et al., 2017). However, approximately 10-20% of individuals experience a range of more persistent symptoms following concussion (Vanderploeg, Curtiss, Luis, & Salazar, 2007) including headache, dizziness, irritability, double vision, tinnitus, memory problems, anxiety, impaired concentration, and depression. These nonremitting symptoms have previously been known as post-concussive syndrome (PCS) (Carroll et al., 2004). PCS is based entirely on self-report and its cardinal symptoms are common to other medical and psychological disorders, making PCS especially difficult to quantify. There are multiple theories as to why symptoms sometimes persist following concussion, especially since objective evidence is lacking. The majority of patients with mTBI have unremarkable findings on neuroimaging (Silverberg, Guhaime, & Iaccarino, 2020) and there are no sensitive biomarkers for concussion. When depression/anxiety symptoms are paired with acute post-traumatic stress, a greater incidence of PCS at 3-month follow-up occurs (Meares et al., 2011), however. Ponsford et al. (2012) found that pre-morbid and current psychiatric symptoms (especially anxiety), paired with life stressors and pain, predicted worse PCS at follow-up in 123 mTBI patients and 100 trauma patient controls assessed in the emergency department and followed up 1 week and 3 months postinjury. This information suggests that stress and psychiatric symptoms have a profound effect on PCS, perhaps creating a cycle of symptom influence. Further, a recent study

utilizing subjective and objective neuropsychological data to assess post-concussive symptoms (Stillman, Madigan, Torres, Swan, & Alexander, 2019) found that depression was the most significant predictor of subjective cognitive impairment. Finally, Iverson et al. (2017) examined 7617 articles related to delayed concussion recovery, finding that the most consistent predictor of slower recovery from concussion was the severity of a person's acute and subacute symptoms, including headaches and depression. Further, individuals with mental health premorbidity appear to be at greater risk for having persistent symptoms (Iverson et al., 2017).

The subjective nature of PCS makes it especially difficult to understand. Few studies have demonstrated the effect that mood symptoms, especially premorbid depression (Solomon, Kuhn, & Zuckerman, 2016; Vargas et al., 2015; Garden and Sullivan 2010), have on concussion recovery. From a psychological perspective, incorrectly attributing cognitive and psychological symptoms to concussion, rather than a dispositional state such as depression, may be a significant contributor to PCS. As an example, Mittenberg, DiGiulio, Perrin, & Bass (1995), examined symptoms experienced by healthy volunteers and individuals with head injuries. Both groups were asked to rate current symptoms (cognitive, affective, and somatic), as well as symptoms they experienced after their head injury. For the control group, they were asked to imagine symptoms after a head injury. The individuals with head injury reported 60% fewer symptoms pre-injury compared to the base rate in the healthy controls, though both groups reported a high degree of symptoms that were experienced or imagined after a head injury. In a similar study of individuals with depression and healthy controls, the tendency to under-estimate pre-injury problems and misattribute symptoms to head injury was observed once again (Gunstad & Suhr, 2001). Misattribution is a phenomenon that is consistently seen in patients with

prolonged concussion symptoms (Ferguson, Mittenberg, Baone, & Schneider, 1999; Gunstad & Suhr, 2001; Iverson, Lange, Brooks, & Rennison, 2010; Mittenberg et al., 1992), and frequently depression and prolonged concussion symptoms are so entwined that it is difficult to understand which precipitates the other. Although neuroimaging does not always suggest structural brain injury, prolonged symptoms following concussion may be due to any combination of neurological and psychological factors. These factors can include alterations in white matter integrity and cerebral perfusion, but also emotional distress prior to and after the event, and perception of illness (Ontario Neurotrauma Foundation, 2013).

CONCUSSION, DEPRESSION, AND REWARD

It is estimated that within 12 months post-TBI (all severities), up to 50% of patients may have an onset of MDD (Scholten et al., 2016). Alhilali, Delic, Gumus, and Fakhran, (2015) utilized diffusion-tensor imaging in post-concussive patients experiencing depression, anxiety, and irritability compared to those not experiencing prolonged concussion symptoms. They found that white matter injury patterns were seen for anxiety and depression (but not irritability), suggesting that physiological changes in the brain following concussion may account for the increase in mood symptoms, although pre-morbid imaging was not available to determine whether these white matter tracts were previously compromised. Notably, injury to the nucleus accumbens was implicated in time to recovery in patients with depression, suggesting potential for a dysfunctional reward circuit. A study by Chen et al. (2017) on dopamine interference following TBI in rodent models discovered that exposure to TBI was associated with major changes in the release and reuptake of dopamine within the nucleus accumbens.. The alterations were most severe 1-2 weeks post-injury and the extent of the abnormalities was correlated with injury severity (Chen et al., 2017). Lastly, Cannella et al. (2020), found that TBI in rats induced changes including decreased dendritic complexity and reduced spine density in areas of the brain essential for reward perception and processing. They also demonstrated that these changes may affect expression of dopamine-associated genes.

For post-concussive patients experiencing mood symptoms, the comorbidity leads to lower levels of life-satisfaction (Emanuelson et al., 2003; Stalnacke, 2007) and health-related quality of life (King & Kirwilliam, 2013), as well as a reduced return to work (Chu et al., 2017; Nolin & Heroux, 2006). Though we cannot yet determine whether depression influences postconcussive symptoms or whether concussion influences depressive symptoms, one of the goals of the present study was to evaluate the relationship of both depression and concussion history on an aspect of reward behavior that could be inherent to both, potentially worsening the reward impairment when both are present.

SUMMARY

An impairment to one's approach motivation is believed to impact pleasurable, or hedonic experiences, thus leading to a hallmark symptom of depression known as anhedonia (Bakker et al., 2017). Anhedonia contributes to the profile of depression and minimizes the efficacy of treatments (McMakin et al., 2012; Rush et al., 2009). The approach aspect of anhedonia is influenced by dopamine within the reward pathways, specifically the ventral striatum and orbitofrontal cortex (Caseras, Lawrence, Murphy, Wise & Phillips, 2013; Zhang, Chang, Guo, Zhang, & Wang, 2013). A concussion can lead to alterations in white matter and cerebral perfusion (Ontario Neurotrauma Foundation, 2013) and in rats, decreased dendritic complexity and reduced spine density in areas essential for reward perception and processing (Cannella et al., 2020), though less is understand about how this presents clinically. Depression and concussion present a complex relationship which further exploration may enhance outcomes for those affected by both.

While depression and concussion treatments have improved over the years and more options are available, the rates of remission and successful treatment have not followed the same path, and the role of anhedonia remains largely unknown. Once we understand the nature of depression and concussion, and how they influence one another and influence clinical outcomes, better treatments can be adapted. This study aimed to evaluate the effect that current depression and a history of concussion have on one's willingness to expend effort, with a focus on anhedonia and its relationship to expenditure of effort. By elucidating the relationship between depression, concussion, and approach motivation, it is possible that more targeted treatments could be developed in order to assist these individuals with motivation.

AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

Aims and Hypotheses

Primary Aims

Aim 1a. Determine the difference in effort outcomes (proportion of hard-task selection) on an approach motivation task for participants with depression and positive concussion history, versus participants with depression and no concussion history. Depression was defined as a PHQ-9 score of 10 or greater during the time of the EEfRT administration, and evidence of a mood disorder based on clinical interview upon entry into the D2K study.

Hypothesis 1. Participants with depression and history of concussion will show greater impairment to their approach motivation as reflected by their willingness (decision) to select hard-tasks (overall proportion of hard-task selection on the EEfRT), regardless of

probability of winning or amount of earnings than those with depression and no concussion history.

Aim 1b. Identify the difference in approach motivation as it relates to the presence of prolonged concussive symptoms in those depressed participants with concussion history.

Hypothesis 1b. Participants with depression and concussion with no prolonged symptoms (symptoms persisting for 2+ weeks after concussion) will be willing to expend greater effort for rewards (overall proportion of hard-task selection), than those with depression and concussion with prolonged symptoms.

Aim 2. Characterize the relationship between impairment in approach motivation on the EEfRT and level of depression severity, as measured by PHQ-9 scores, in those depressed participants with a history of concussion.

Hypothesis 2. Participants with a depression diagnosis and history of concussion will show a negative relationship between their willingness to expend effort for rewards (overall proportion of hard-task selection) and the severity of depressive symptoms (as measured by the PHQ-9).

Exploratory Aim:

Investigate the relationship between self-rated anhedonia, as measured by the PHQ-9, and willingness to expend effort for rewards (overall proportion of hard-task selection).

Hypothesis. Severity of endorsement of the anhedonia item on the PHQ-9 will significantly negatively correlate with willingness to expend effort for rewards on the EEfRT.

CHAPTER TWO

Methodology

Participants

Existing data from an ongoing 10-year natural history, longitudinal, prospective study known as Dallas 2K (D2K) (Trivedi et al., 2020) conducted at the Center for Depression Research and Clinical Care at UT Southwestern Medical Center was used from November 2016 to April 23, 2020. Current study participants included male and female subjects age 18 or older, of any race/ethnicity. All D2K participants must speak, read, and understand English and have a lifetime or a current diagnosis of a mood disorder. The sample for the current study was selected from the D2K population due to presence of a mood episode/disorder (as evidenced by a clinically elevated PHQ-9 score (10 or greater) and corroborated with a major depressive episode/disorder or mood disorder diagnosis) along with a history of concussion based upon the Texas Evaluation of Concussion History (TECH), and Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EFfRT) task outcomes. Of 111 participants that met criteria for this study, 41 were in the depression/no concussion group, and there were 70 in the depression with concussion history group (see Figure 1. Consort Diagram). Baseline demographic information was collected via participant self-report and included age, biological sex, highest obtained education, and race. In addition, psychiatric diagnoses from the participant's D2K record was obtained based upon a standard semi-structured diagnostic interview.

Measures

Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (*EFfRT*)

The task which assessed participant's approach motivation level is the Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EFfRT), a computer software game which highlights a participant's motivation to achieve reward through a monetary and skill-based activity.

The EEfRT is a multi-trial game in which individuals select tasks based on easy or hard difficulty to obtain monetary rewards (Treadway et al., 2009). Participants receive actual money

for their game earnings. For each trial, participants use button presses within a specified amount of time to raise the level of the "bar" to the "top" within the prescribed time (e.g. filling a container with virtual stacking blocks). Hard tasks involve 100 presses with the non-dominant little finger within 21 seconds, whereas easy tasks include 30 button presses with the dominanthand index finger in 7 seconds. Easy task trials allot the patient \$1.00 if successfully completed whereas harder tasks have ranges of monetary reward. Harder task winnings offer have a reward magnitude of \$1.24 to \$4.30. Participants are not guaranteed the reward if they complete the task; some trials are "win" trials and others are "no win," in that the participant will not win any money even if it is successfully completed. Participants are provided information regarding the probability that the trial is a "win" trial (88%, 50%, and 12%). Probabilities are applied to both easy and hard tasks with equal probability proportions across the experiment (low versus hard).

All participants are presented with the same task order. Each task begins with a fixation cross (looks like a plus sign) for 1 second, followed by task information including probability of winning and monetary reward for 5 seconds. Participants learn in the instructions that if they do not choose a task within the 5 second time frame, the difficulty level is randomly selected for them. They have one second before the task begins. Following completion of the task, there is a 2 second screen providing information on successful or unsuccessful completion. If the task was successfully completed, the screen was followed with another 2 second screen sharing whether they won money for that task (reward feedback). Generally, easy-task trials take 15 seconds and hard task trials 30 seconds.

Participants are given explanation that they will receive a base compensation amount for participation, and in addition, two of their "win" trials would be randomly selected at the end of the task in which they would receive the actual amount won on those two trials. They are given

20 minutes to complete as many trials as they can. Hard task trials take approximately twice the amount of time of the easy tasks. Participants are told that the more hard tasks attempted towards the beginning, the less likely they would be to play high value, high probability tasks that appear during the end. Participants have to make the decision within 5 seconds, which helps ensure that their choices are a reflection of their willingness to expend effort and not a formal calculation of an optimal response (Treadway et al., 2009). For the purposes of the current study, and following prior literature, willingness to expend effort was defined by willingness to perform the hard tasks, expressed as a proportion of the number of chosen hard tasks to the overall completed tasks.

Additional variables available for analysis from the EEfRT task include proportion of easy-task choices (how often a participant selected the easier task), proportion of no-choice selection (how often they did not make a choice), completion rate (whether the task was completed or not), and average response time (how quickly they responded in making a choice).

Also available are different probability structures within the EEfRT task that assess various dimensions of reward responding, including: low probability/low reward task options, low probability/high reward task options, overall low probability options, medium probability/low reward, medium probability/high reward, overall medium probability options, high probability/low reward, high probability/high reward, and overall high probability options. The proportions allow the evaluator to examine how often the participant selected each task, whether the person is more incented by probability or reward, or the combination of both, and whether the participant is making thoughtful decisions (e.g. is there a pattern to their decision making). These additional analyses provide further information regarding the different impairments to reward behavior and the cost/benefit analysis integral to motivation (Treadway & Zald, 2011).

PHQ-9

The nine-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) was used to assess depression severity. The PHQ-9 scores each of the 9 DSM-IV criteria as "0" (not at all) to "3" (nearly every day) self-reported by the patient. PHQ-9 scores of 5, 10, 15, and 20 generally represent mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depression, respectively (Kroenke et al., 2001). The PHQ-9 has good predictive value, as validated in a sample of 3,000 primary care patients. The vast majority (93%) with no depressive disorder had a PHQ-9 score less than 10, while most patients (88%) with major depression had scores of 10 or greater. Scores less than 5 almost always signify the absence of a depressive disorder and scores of 5 to 9 primarily represent patients with no depression or subthreshold depression (Kroenke et al., 2001). For the purpose of this study, a threshold score of 10 or greater was used.

Concussion History Tool

The Texas Evaluation of Concussion History (TECH) is a self-report questionnaire identifying concussion history and corresponding sequalae. Items are structured to assess nature of the injury, details of the impact and loss of consciousness, and related symptoms and symptom timeline. In tandem with the depressive symptomatology assessment (PHQ-9) and clinical data, this information was used to define the concussion and no-concussion groups which were the main focus of the study.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were carried out using IBM SPSS Statistics version 26.0. The level of significance was set at α =.05 (two-tailed).

Baseline Demographics and Characteristics

To test for potential effects of main demographic and clinical characteristics, independent sample t-tests were conducted on age, education, race, and PHQ-9 score, while sex frequencies were characterized using chi-square between the concussed/non-concussed MDD groups. There were no differences observed; age, t(109) = -.777, p = .896, PHQ-9 score, t(109) =-1.337, p = .101. sex, x^2 (1, N =110) = 3.626, p = .057, though it appeared that there was a trend for sex. Next, Pearson correlations were conducted on age and PHQ-9 status across the sample, while an independent sample t-test was conducted to compare males versus females on the willingness to expend effort. No relationship was observed between willingness to expend effort and age, r = .156, n = 111, p = .101, mean PHQ-9 score, r = .062, n = 111, p = .515, education, r = .007, n = 111, p = .945, and race, r = .132, n = 111, p = .172, but they did differ on sex, t(108) = -2.01, p = .047. Males (M = .37, SD = .18) chose more hard-tasks overall than females (M = .29, SD = .20). Sex was used as a covariate throughout the analyses based on these results. Age was also used as a covariate due to the theoretical possibility that cognitive ageing and motor ability could potentially influence willingness to expend effort on harder tasks (Salthouse, 1991).

Primary Aims

Aim 1a.

A univariate ANCOVA was utilized to compare willingness to expend effort on the EEfRT task between depressed individuals with and without history of concussion (depression/no concussion n=70; depression/concussion n=40), controlling for age and sex.

Aim 1b.

A univariate ANCOVA was conducted to evaluate the relationship between the presence of prolonged concussion symptoms (depression with prolonged concussion symptoms n=14, depression with no prolonged symptoms n=26) and willingness to expend effort measured by the EEfRT using proportion of hard-task choices. One participant was excluded due to missing sex data. The independent variable, prolonged concussion symptoms, included two levels: history of concussion symptoms remitting within two weeks or less, and prolonged concussion symptoms lasting more than two weeks. The dependent variable was the proportion of hard-task choices selected on the EEfRT. The original proposal included prolonged symptoms lasting for a month or longer; however, due to sample limitations of too few participants with over a month of prolonged symptoms, as well as literature that suggests an average 10-14-day recovery for mTBI (McCrory et al., 2017), the selection threshold was lowered from one month to two weeks.

Aim 2.

A Pearson correlation was used to examine the relationship between PHQ-9 score severity and overall proportion of hard-task choices on the EEfRT in the group of depressed, concussed participants (n=111).

Exploratory Aim

Aim 3.

Exploratory:

A chi-square analysis was conducted to evaluate whether severity of anhedonia endorsement on the PHQ-9 (n=111) was related to willingness to expend effort on the EEfRT. The two independent variables were level of endorsement of anhedonia (loss of pleasure or interest), grouped into low endorsement (0 = not at all and 1 = several days of anhedonia) and high endorsement (2 = more than half the days and 3 = nearly every day) on the PHQ-9 item one, and the proportion of hard-task choices on the EEfRT task in participants with PHQ-9 score of 10 or greater. Such a relationship could potentially provide easier identification of impaired approach motivation in depressed participants when the EEfRT is unavailable, as the PHQ-9 is commonly used in clinical settings.

CHAPTER THREE Results

Total Sample

In total, data from 111 participants were used (see Table 1). Of these, 63% (n=70) had a depression diagnosis and no history of concussion, and 36.9% (n=41) had a depression diagnosis and a self-reported history of concussion. At baseline, the mean age of the entire sample was 47.10 ± 1.6 years, and 71.1% (n=79) were female and 28.8% (n=32) were male. Demographic data including ethnicity and education were missing for two participants. Identified ethnicity was as follows: 1.8% (n=2) were American Indian or Alaska Native, 17.4% (n=19) Black or African American, 2.8% (n=3) were Asian, 74.3% (n=81) were White or Caucasian, 2.8% (n=3) were "more than one race," and .9% (n=1) identified as "other." Almost 15% (n=14) obtained a high school degree or GED, 9.5% (n=9) had a junior college degree or technical school diploma, 27.4% (n=26) some college, 31.6% (n=30) a Bachelor's degree, 12.6% (n=12) a Master's degree, and 4.2% (n=4) held a doctoral degree (J.D., M.D., PhD, D.O., etc.). A majority (83.8%; n=93) of participants had a primary depressive disorder, 14.4% (n=16) had a primary bipolar disorder, .9% (n=1) had a primary trauma-related disorder, and .9% (N=1) had a primary anxiety disorder. In the group of depressed, non-concussed participants, (n=70), 77.1% (n=54) were female, and 22.9% (n=16) were male. In the group of depressed participants with a history of concussion,

60% (n=24) were female and 40% (n=16) were male, with no significant differences on any demographic variables between the concussed/non-concussed MDD groups.

Aim 1a.

The ANCOVA to evaluate the effect of concussion history on willingness to expend effort (n=110) was not significant F (1,108) = .963, p=.329 (see Table 2).

Aim 1b.

Prolonged concussion symptom subjects (n=14) vs depression with no prolonged symptoms (n=26) did not significantly impact willingness to expend effort on the EEfRT as measured by hard-task choices (F (1,38) =.341, p=.563). One participant was excluded due to missing sex data (See Table 3).

Aim 2.

In order to examine the effects of severe depression, a Pearsons correlation was conducted to evaluate the relationship between PHQ-9 score severity (among those with PHQ-9 scores of 10 or above) (n=111) and its relationship with willingness to expend effort on the EEfRT as measured by the overall proportion of hard-task choice selection. This correlation was nonsignificant (r = .089, n = 41, p = .581).

Exploratory Analyses.

The exploratory analyses were designed to understand the anhedonia severity rating effect on effort outcomes in depressed/concussed and depressed/non-concussed groups. This was not significant, Pearson x^2 (34, N = 111) = 31.43, p = .594; as such, anhedonia severity did not influence the number of hard-task choices on the EEfRT.

As an attempt to explore the data for the sole purpose of generating further hypotheses, an ANCOVA was run to examine whether concussion and anhedonia endorsement on the PHQ-9 had an interaction effect on the overall proportion of hard-task choices on the EEfRT. The ANCOVA was not significant, F (1,104) = .195, MSE = .038, p < .660. To better understand the relationship between anhedonia and overall proportion of hard-task choices, a simple correlation between anhedonia severity and hard-task choice proportion on the task was completed and was not significant (r = -.009, n =111, p = .923).

Posthoc Analyses.

Exploratory post-hoc analyses were completed to generate additional hypotheses and explore alternative variables of interest related to the dataset. Analyses were purely exploratory and were uncorrected for multiple comparisons.

To examine the relationship between concussion history and other aspects of reward behavior measured by the EEfRT task, multiple variables were used to further explore the decision-making process. Univariate ANCOVAS were conducted to evaluate the effect of concussion history on proportion of easy-task choices, proportion of no-choice selection, completion rate, average response time, and different probability structures within the task including: low probability/low reward task options, low probability/high reward task options, overall low probability options, medium probability/low reward, medium probability/high reward, overall medium probability options, high probability/low reward, high probability/high reward, and overall high probability options. No significant differences were observed between groups, and all f<2.23; all p>.05 (see Table 4).

Analyses were then conducted to explore the potential effect of depression severity on the willingness to expend effort. A larger dataset was used (those with any depression symptom severity, including a score of 9 or below, n = 176) as well as concussion status on overall proportion of hard-task choices on the EEfRT. A 2 Group (concussed/non-concussed) X 2

Depression Severity (PHQ-9 9 and below; 10 and above) ANCOVA controlling for age and sex was conducted to determine whether there was a significant difference in willingness to expend effort. The main effects of concussion history were not significant for overall proportion of hard-task choices, F(1,170) = .150, MSE = .006, p = .699, depression severity, F(1,170) = .154, MSE = .006, p = .695, nor was the interaction effect depression and concussion, F(1,170) = .752, MSE = .028, p = .387.

Additionally, univariate ANCOVAS were conducted to further investigate the potential effect concussion history and depression severity could have on other task variables related to motivation-based decision making. The data set included 176 participants with any PHQ-9 score severity. Independent variables included depression status and concussion status on dependent variables of proportion of easy-task choices, proportion of no-choice selection, completion rate, average response time, and probability level and monetary value within the task including: low probability, low reward task options, low probability high reward task options, overall low probability options, medium probability low reward, medium probability high reward, overall medium probability options, high probability low reward, high probability high reward, and overall high probability options. There was a significant difference in the proportion of low probability, high reward choices made, F(1,170) = 5.517, MSE = .233, p = .020 (see Figure 2) as a function of depression severity. Those with a depression score of 9 or less (i.e., those with fewer depressive symptoms or in depression remission during the time of assessment) chose to expend more effort on low probability conditions when the monetary value was high (M = .166) than those with greater depression severity (M = .085). Thus, depression appeared to be the driving force behind level of effort expended on the task, irrespective of concussion history.

Further, in the low PHQ-9 symptom severity group with no concussion history, participants displayed a higher completion rate F(1,170) = 4.090, MSE = .090, p = .045 and faster average response time F(1,170) = 5.012, MSE = 3907984.044, p = .026 (see Figure 3), whereas the low PHQ-9 symptom severity with a concussion history showed a lower completion rate and a longer average response time. However, the very large standard deviations associated with these variables suggest that the data are skewed, and the results suspect.

CHAPTER FOUR Discussion

The current study sought to uncover potential deficits in approach motivation as a function of both depression and a history of concussion. If a history of concussion were to be associated with an additional risk or burden beyond the effects of depression, approach motivation could serve as both an indicator of dysfunction as well as an indicator for specific treatment (e.g. treatment that includes a focus on motivation). Although none of the main findings were significant, such that a history of concussion in depressed individuals did not reveal an impairment to one's willingness to expend effort on an approach motivation task, this study contributes to the literature in novel ways.

In contrast to the Treadway et al. (2009) study on effort expended in depressed individuals, the current study did not reveal deficits in approach motivation for those with increased trait anhedonia. Importantly though, the current study utilized a one-item measure of anhedonia from the PHQ-9 which is understandably a limited measure of this construct. The current study did find a similar effect of gender to Treadway et al. (2009), with more men choosing hard-task options than women. We did not further explore interactions between anhedonia, probability, and reward magnitude as Treadway et al. (2009) did, due to the lack of significance related to our single-item anhedonia construct and the other nonsignificant findings.

Posthoc analyses were conducted in order to explore more detailed dimensions of the EEfRT test variables. These analyses revealed largely nonsignificant results, although a few potentially interesting findings were seen; however, it should be noted that these findings may be spurious given the number of variables in the analyses and that they had very high standard deviations and were statistically unadjusted. Observed in the exploratory post-hoc analyses was an interaction effect between concussion history and depression on completion rate and average response time during the EEfRT. In the low PHQ-9 symptom severity group with no concussion history (N=38), subjects had a higher completion rate and faster average response time (how quickly they made a decision), whereas the low PHQ-9 symptom severity with a concussion history (N=28) showed a lower completion rate and a slower average response time. While the EEfRT task has not been characterized as a test of executive functioning, the slowed average response time could be an effect of slowed decision making. Further, the lower completion rate may suggest that those with concussion and depression were quicker to give up or less likely to persist with effort throughout the task. Giving up on effort tasks could also highlight the lack of expectation of reward, which could be a symptom of depression or an impairment to the decision-making process. Future research may want to examine how these factors influence EEfRT outcomes, as these findings of lower completion rates and slower response times, if valid, could suggest difficulties in aspects of decision-making speed and/or or maintenance of effort.

More plausible is that the exploratory analysis results were spurious due to the multiple comparison and expected experiment-wise error and the high variability in EEfRT scores, as there is substantial evidence to suggest that concussion does not produce long-term cognitive sequalae for most individuals. Concussion has been a source of debate for many years regarding its potential long-term effect upon the brain. Based on the current results, having both depression and a history of concussion does not appear to influence approach motivation, however. Therefore, these results are largely representative of mainstream thinking regarding concussion, specifically that mTBI does not have long-term complications (Caccese et al., 2020; Meares et al., 2006).

Furthermore, one's self-report of anhedonic symptoms on the PHQ-9 did not appear to influence outcomes on the effort task. Though we cannot conclude that depression accounts for the effort expended on the EEfRT, it appears that depression remains the driving force behind effort expenditure based on the current results and prior studies using the EEfRT (Treadway et al., 2009). In the exploratory analyses, participants with low PHQ-9 symptom severity were willing to expend more effort for low probability conditions that had high reward (monetary value), suggesting that their lower depression severity may lead to engagement in low probability tasks since the reward was high, whereas their counterparts with high depressive symptom severity did not engage, possibly due to the higher depression severity blunting their motivation or decision making for high reward in a low probability task. The high depression severity group could have an impairment in cost/benefit decision making, including undervaluing the reward, overestimating the work required to receive it, or a failure of the decision-making process which influences motivation to pursue it (Treadway & Zald, 2011). Deficits in motivation for reward are driven mainly by low anticipatory pleasure (Sherdell et al., 2012), which also echoes other studies (Treadway et al., 2012) that have observed less sensitivity to information about the reward magnitude and probability of a win when making their choices on the EEfRT. The high depression severity group may have minimized the reward magnitude in the context of the low probability, especially if their motivation was compromised to begin with. Depressed individuals also tend to make errors in predicting between actual and expected outcomes (Gradin et al.,

2011), which may also be evidenced by these results. Depressed individuals may put more emphasis on the low probability aspect of the task, rather than the high reward valuation. MDD patients tend to focus on avoiding loss, rather than approaching gain (Trew, 2011). Nevertheless, there appeared to be no systematic additional influence of a prior history of depression on the current sample's EEfRT performance, once again suggesting that depression is the driving force behind task performance.

Lastly, this study was unique in exploring the effects of a history of concussion in a sample of already depressed individuals recruited specifically for depression research. Many studies begin with individuals who have sustained concussion and analyze their participants from that perspective. This study may be more representative of the broader population, considering the sizeable prevalence of depression. Understanding how concussion may influence a pre-morbid mood disorder is an important aspect to greater understanding of the impact of concussion.

LIMITATIONS

This study has several limitations which may impact interpretation and generalizability of the results. First, the current dataset was a convenience sample of depressed individuals involved in longitudinal research, so may not be representative of the general population with depression. Second, and one of the primary limitations, was the lack of healthy controls. Without healthy control data, it is difficult to determine whether the scores in either group were within the normal range or reflect "impairment" on the EEfRT task. Additionally, it appears that the EEfRT task does not have population-based norms like most clinical neuropsychological tests, which is a limitation. Within the D2K sample, no additional standard neuropsychological tests were administered, so we were unable to validate it with other measures. In a sister study to D2K which examines resilience in youth (Texas Resilience Against Depression, T-RAD) (Trivedi et al., 2020), there is a healthy control group aged 18-24, but those subjects would not be similar in age to the current sample. Although both of these options limit sample size, this study may be worth pursuing to provide more confidence in depression related to effort outcomes, as well as aiding in further clinical validation of the EEfRT.

Along these lines, there are limitations to the use of the EEfRT as the main outcome assessment, as it is a relatively new task and has yet to be validated and normed, though multiple studies have been completed using this task (Lawn et al., 2016; Lopez-Gamundi & Wardle, 2018; Mansur et al., 2019). Further, we do not yet know how the EEfRT translates clinically, specifically whether impairments seen on the task translate to behavioral outcomes in a realworld setting. Further use of the EEfRT in neurologic, psychiatric, and healthy samples will allow for validation.

Another limitation is that the single-item self-report assessment on the PHQ-9 likely does not adequately capture the motivational aspect of anhedonia. The item asks whether the person has experienced little interest or pleasure in doing things, and since the enjoyment of the reward does not seem to be as impacted as the motivation for the reward in depression, this question misses the elicitation of global anhedonia. Although this measure was chosen specifically for its generalizability and availability in the sample, measures that correlate with the motivational aspect of anhedonia may be more fruitful when examining EEfRT outcomes, such as the Dimensional Anhedonia Rating Scale (Rizvi et al., 2015), or the Blanchard Motivation and Pleasure Self-Report Scale (Llerena et al., 2013).

The EEfRT examines motivation by using an actual monetary incentive. While this is a reasonable approach to assess motivation, individuals would have varying incentive to earn small

amounts of money, let alone varying levels of interest in the amount of money being offered. A study (Szczepanik et al. 2019) examining the appeal of motivation-assessing tasks sought to understand how activities are individualized, which brings up the question whether monetary reward is incentivizing to all people. Future studies may consider asking participants a few brief questions regarding how incented they are by money, and complete analysis based on those who identify feeling motivated by it to better ensure that what is being captured is motivation for reward. Further, it has implications for treatment providers to consider the unique nature of reward, and work with their patients to determine an individualized plan for rewarding activities. If a provider is working with a patient who is not incented by establishing social connections, planning for social engagements may not be a worthy endeavor.

Last, concussion history was coded in the current dataset as being present or absent, which does not account for the variability in severity or nature of the injury. Further, the number of concussions was not taken into account, which may be an interesting avenue for future studies since at least one study has suggested that a higher concussion count may lead to long-term worse outcomes in some individuals (Yrondi, Brauge, LeMen, Arbus, & Pariente, 2017).

Conclusion

Given the absence of research on depression, concussion, and approach motivation, this study contributes to the literature regarding the lack of an effect of comorbid depression and a history of concussion on approach motivation. Though the main analyses were nonsignificant, the exploratory analyses provide some impetus to suggest that more research on various aspects of depression are needed to better break down and understand its component processes and how these may be affected by additional insults to the central nervous system.

FIGURE 1. CONSORT DIAGRAM





FIGURE 2. EEfRT LOW PROBABILITY/HIGH REWARD CHOICE



FIGURE 3. EEfRT COMPLETION RATE & AVERAGE RESPONSE TIME



TABLE 1: DEMOGRAPHICS AND CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF TOTAL SAMPLE				
Demographics	Total Sample (N=110)	Clinical Characteristics	Total Sample (N=110)	
Age	47.10 ± 1.6	Primary Diagnoses		
Sex- Female	79 (71.2%)	Recurrent Major Depressive	72 (64.9%)	
Sex- Male	32 (28.8%)			
Education		Persistent Depressive	4 (3.6%)	
High School/GED	14 (14.7%)	Bipolar Disorders	16 (14.4%)	
Junior College/Technical	9 (09.5%)	Trauma Related Disorders	1 (0.9%)	
Bachelor's Degree	30 (31.6%)	Generalized Anxiety	1 (0.9%)	
Master's Degree	12 (12.6%)	Past Major Depressive	6 (5.4%)	
Doctoral/Professional Degree	4 (4.2%)	Current Major Depressive	8 (7.2%)	
Race		Lifetime Mood Disorder w/ Psychotic Features	1 (2.5%)	
American Indian/AlaskaNative	2 (1.8%)	PHQ-9 Score	14.32 ± 3.85	
Black/African American	19 (17.4%)			
Asian	3 (2.8%)			
White/Caucasian	81 (74.3%)			
More than one race	3 (2.8%)			
Other	1 (0.9%)			

37

TABLE 2. OVERALL PROPORTION OF EEfRT HARD TASK CHOICES FOR AIM 1A

Concussion	Ν	Mean	Std. Dev
History			
Denied	70	.302	.023
Endorsed	40	.340	.031

I'OK AIM ID			
Prolonged Symptoms	Ν	Mean	Std. Dev
Denied	26	.369	.205
Endorsed	14	.299	.233
Total	40	.344	.215

TABLE 3. OVERALL PROPORTION OF EEfRT HARD TASK CHOICES FOR AIM 1B

TABLE 4. EFFECT OF CONCUSSION HISTORY ON ADDITIONAL EEfRT VARIABLES OF INTEREST

Variable	Concussion +/-	Mean	Std Deviation
Overall Prop Easy	-	.621	.237
	+	.547	.248
No Choice	-	.072	.231
	+	.108	.260
Completion Rate	-	.900	.172
	+	.926	.146
Average Response Time	-	5184.634	1002.763
	+	5125.802	698.534
Low Probability/Low Reward	-	.141	.213
	+	.119	.165
Low Probability/ High Reward	-	.075	.158
	+	.081	.201
Low Probability Overall	-	.161	.211
	+	.163	.173
Medium Probability/ Low Reward	-	.226	.256
·	+	.261	.257
Medium Probability/ High Reward	-	.329	.317
	+	.431	.351
Medium Probability Overall	-	.280	.255
	+	.355	.280
High Probability/Low Reward	-	.373	.322
	+	.413	.306
High Probability/High Reward	-	.559	.381
	+	.625	.382
High Probability Overall	-	.457	.313
	+	.515	.315

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alhilali, L. M., Delic, J. A., Gumus, S., & Fakhran, S. (2015). Evaluation of white matter injury patterns underlying neuropsychiatric symptoms after mild traumatic brain injury. *Radiology*, *277*(3), 793-800.
- Alloy, L. B., Olino, T., Freed, R. D., & Nusslock, R. (2016). Role of Reward Sensitivity and Processing in Major Depressive and Bipolar Spectrum Disorders. *Behavior Therapy*, 47(5), 600–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2016.02.014
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: Author.
- Bachmann S. (2018). Epidemiology of Suicide and the Psychiatric Perspective. International journal of environmental research and public health, 15(7), 1425. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15071425
- Bakker, J. M., Goossens, L., Lange, I., Michielse, S., Schruers, K., Lieverse, R., ... Wichers, M. (2017). Real-life validation of reduced reward processing in emerging adults with depressive symptoms. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *126*(6), 713–725. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000294
- Barbano, M. F., & Cador, M. (2007). Opioids for hedonic experience and dopamine to get ready for it. *Psychopharmacology*, 191(3), 497–506. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0521-1
- Barch, D. M. (2005). The relationships among cognition, motivation, and emotion in schizophrenia: how much and how little we know. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *31*(4), 875-881.

- Bardgett, M. E., Depenbrock, M., Downs, N., Points, M., & Green, L. (2009). Dopamine modulates effort-based decision making in rats. *Behavioral neuroscience*, *123*(2), 242– 251. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014625
- Belanger, H. G., Spiegel, E., & Vanderploeg, R. D. (2010). Neuropsychological performance following a history of multiple self-reported concussions: a meta-analysis. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS*, 16(2), 262–267. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617709991287
- Berridge, K. C. (1996). Food reward: brain substrates of wanting and liking. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 20(1), 1-25.
- Berridge, K. C., & Robinson, T. E. (1998). What is the role of dopamine in reward: Hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? *Brain Research Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(98)00019-8
- Bleiberg, J., Kane, R. L., Reeves, D. L., Garmoe, W. S., & Halpern, E. (2000). Factor analysis of computerized and traditional tests used in mild brain injury research. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 14(3), 287-294.
- Bressan, R. A., & Crippa, J. A. (2005). The role of dopamine in reward and pleasure behaviour– review of data from preclinical research. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *111*, 14-21.
- Caccese, J. B., Bodt, B. A., Iverson, G. L., Kaminski, T. W., Bryk, K., Oldham, J., Broglio, S. P., McCrea, M., McAllister, T., Buckley, T. A., & CARE Consortium Investigators (2020).
 Estimated Age of First Exposure to Contact Sports and Neurocognitive, Psychological, and Physical Outcomes in Healthy NCAA Collegiate Athletes: A Cohort Study. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, *50*(7), 1377–1392.

- Cannella, L. A., Andrews, A. M., Tran, F., Razmpour, R., McGary, H., Collie, C., Tsegaye, T., Maynard, M., Kaufman, M. J., Rawls, S. M., & Ramirez, S. H. (2020). Experimental Traumatic Brain Injury during Adolescence Enhances Cocaine Rewarding Efficacy and Dysregulates Dopamine and Neuroimmune Systems in Brain Reward Substrates. *Journal of neurotrauma*, *37*(1), 27–42. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2019.6472
- Carroll, L. J., Cassidy, J. D., Peloso, P. M., Borg, J., von Holst, H., Holm, L., Paniak, C., Pépin, M., & WHO Collaborating Centre Task Force on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury (2004).
 Prognosis for mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO Collaborating Centre Task Force on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of rehabilitation medicine*, (43 Suppl), 84–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/16501960410023859
- Caseras, X., Lawrence, N. S., Murphy, K., Wise, R. G., & Phillips, M. L. (2013). Ventral striatum activity in response to reward: differences between bipolar I and II disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 170(5), 533-541.
- Chen, Y. H., Huang, E. Y. K., Kuo, T. T., Hoffer, B. J., Miller, J., Chou, Y. C., & Chiang, Y. H. (2017). Dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens is altered following traumatic brain injury. *Neuroscience*, 348, 180-190.
- Chentsova-Dutton, Y., & Hanley, K. (2010). The effects of anhedonia and depression on hedonic responses. *Psychiatry Research*, *179*(2), 176-180.
- Chu, S. Y., Tsai, Y. H., Xiao, S. H., Huang, S. J., & Yang, C. C. (2017). Quality of return to work in patients with mild traumatic brain injury: a prospective investigation of associations among post-concussion symptoms, neuropsychological functions, working status and stability. *Brain injury*, 31(12), 1674-1682.

Costello, C. G. (1972). Depression: Loss of reinforcers of loss of reinforcer effectiveness?. *Behavior Therapy*, *3*(2), 240-247.

- Craske, M. G., Meuret, A. E., Ritz, T., Treanor, M., & Dour, H. J. (2016). Treatment for Anhedonia: A Neuroscience Driven Approach. *Depression and Anxiety*, 33(10), 927– 938. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22490
- Craske, M. G., Meuret, A. E., Ritz, T., Treanor, M., Dour, H., & Rosenfield, D. (2019). Positive affect treatment for depression and anxiety: A randomized clinical trial for a core feature of anhedonia. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 87(5), 457.
- DelDonno, S. R., Mickey, B. J., Pruitt, P. J., Stange, J. P., Hsu, D. T., Weldon, A. L., Zubieta, J. K., & Langenecker, S. A. (2019). Influence of childhood adversity, approach motivation traits, and depression on individual differences in brain activation during reward anticipation. *Biological psychology*, *146*, 107709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2019.05.009
- Denk, F., Walton, M. E., Jennings, K. A., Sharp, T., Rushworth, M. F., & Bannerman, D. M. (2005). Differential involvement of serotonin and dopamine systems in cost-benefit decisions about delay or effort. *Psychopharmacology*, *179*(3), 587–596. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-004-2059-4
- Der-Avakian, A., & Markou, A. (2012). The neurobiology of anhedonia and other reward-related deficits. *Trends in neurosciences*, *35*(1), 68–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.11.005
- Der-Avakian, A., Barnes, S. A., Markou, A., & Pizzagalli, D. A. (2016). Translational assessment of reward and motivational deficits in psychiatric disorders. In *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854_2015_5004

- Dichter, G. S., Kozink, R. V., McClernon, F. J., & Smoski, M. J. (2012). Remitted major depression is characterized by reward network hyperactivation during reward anticipation and hypoactivation during reward outcomes. *Journal of affective disorders*, *136*(3), 1126–1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.09.048
- Dimidjian, S., Hollon, S. D., Dobson, K. S., Schmaling, K. B., Kohlenberg, R. J., Addis, M. E., Gallop, R., McGlinchey, J. B., Markley, D. K., Gollan, J. K., Atkins, D. C., Dunner, D. L., & Jacobson, N. S. (2006). Randomized trial of behavioral activation, cognitive therapy, and antidepressant medication in the acute treatment of adults with major depression. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, *74*(4), 658–670. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.74.4.658
- Eckner, J. T., Oh, Y. K., Joshi, M. S., Richardson, J. K., & Ashton-Miller, J. A. (2014). Effect of neck muscle strength and anticipatory cervical muscle activation on the kinematic response of the head to impulsive loads. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 42(3), 566-576.
- Emanuelson, I., Andersson Holmkvist, E., Björklund, R., & Stålhammar, D. (2003). Quality of life and post-concussion symptoms in adults after mild traumatic brain injury: a population-based study in western Sweden. *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*, *108*(5), 332–338. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0404.2003.00155.x
- Fawcett, J., Clark, D. C., Scheftner, W. A., & Gibbons, R. D. (1983). Assessing anhedonia in psychiatric patients. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 40(1), 79–84. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1983.01790010081010
- Ferguson RJ, Mittenberg W, Barone DF, Schneider B. Postconcussion syndrome following sports-related head injury: expectation as etiology. *Neuropsychology* 1999;13:582–589.

- Garden, N., & Sullivan, K. A. (2010). An examination of the base rates of post-concussion symptoms: the influence of demographics and depression. *Applied neuropsychology*, *17*(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/09084280903297495
- Giza, C., Greco, T., & Prins, M. L. (2018). Concussion: pathophysiology and clinical translation. *Handbook of clinical neurology*, 158, 51–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63954-7.00006-9
- Gradin VB, Kumar P, Waiter G, et al. Expected value and prediction error abnormalities in depression and schizophrenia. *Brain*. 2011;134(Pt 6):1751-1764.
 doi:10.1093/brain/awr059
- Green, R. E., Christensen, B., Melo, B., Monette, G., Bayley, M., Hebert, D., ... & Mcilroy, W. (2006). Is there a trade-off between cognitive and motor recovery after traumatic brain injury due to competition for limited neural resources?. *Brain and cognition*, 60(2), 199-201.
- Greenberg, P. E., Fournier, A. A., Sisitsky, T., Pike, C. T., & Kessler, R. C. (2015). The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010). *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 76(2), 155-162.
- Gunstad J, Suhr JA. "Expectation as etiology" versus "the good old days": postconcussion syndrome symptom reporting in athletes, headache sufferers, and depressed individuals. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society* 2001;7:323–333.
- Haber, S. N., & Knutson, B. (2010). The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(1), 4–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.129

Hasler, G., Drevets, W. C., Manji, H. K., & Charney, D. S. (2004). Discovering endophenotypes

for major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(10), 1765–1781. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300506

- Hawton, K., i Comabella, C. C., Haw, C., & Saunders, K. (2013). Risk factors for suicide in individuals with depression: a systematic review. *Journal of affective disorders*, 147(1-3), 17-28.
- Holcomb, H. H., & Rowland, L. M. (2007). How schizophrenia and depression disrupt reward circuitry. *Current treatment options in neurology*, *9*(5), 357-362.
- Hughes, D. M., Yates, M. J., Morton, E. E., & Smillie, L. D. (2014). Asymmetric frontal cortical activity predicts effort expenditure for reward. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 10(7), 1015–1019. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsu149
- Iacoviello, B. M., Alloy, L. B., Abramson, L. Y., & Choi, J. Y. (2010). The early course of depression: a longitudinal investigation of prodromal symptoms and their relation to the symptomatic course of depressive episodes. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *119*(3), 459.
- Inagaki, T. K., & Eisenberger, N. I. (2012). Neural correlates of giving support to a loved one. *Psychosomatic medicine*, 74(1), 3–7.

https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182359335

- Ito, R., & Hayen, A. (2011). Opposing roles of nucleus accumbens core and shell dopamine in the modulation of limbic information processing. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(16), 6001-6007.
- Iverson GL, Lange RT, Brooks BL, Rennison VL. Good old days bias following mild traumatic brain injury. *Clinical Neuropsychology* 2010; 24:17–37.

- Iverson, G. L., Gardner, A. J., Terry, D. P., Ponsford, J. L., Sills, A. K., Broshek, D. K., & Solomon, G. S. (2017). Predictors of clinical recovery from concussion: a systematic review. *Br J Sports Med*, *51*(12), 941-948.
- Kelley, A. E., & Berridge, K. C. (2002). The neuroscience of natural rewards: relevance to addictive drugs. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 22(9), 3306–3311. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-09-03306.2002
- Keren, H., O'Callaghan, G., Vidal-Ribas, P., Buzzell, G. A., Brotman, M. A., Leibenluft, E., Pan, P. M., Meffert, L., Kaiser, A., Wolke, S., Pine, D. S., & Stringaris, A. (2018). Reward Processing in Depression: A Conceptual and Meta-Analytic Review Across fMRI and EEG Studies. *The American journal of psychiatry*, *175*(11), 1111–1120. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17101124
- King NS, Kirwilliam S. The nature of permanent post-concussion symptoms after mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Impairment* (2013) 14:235–42. doi: 10.1017/BrImp.2013.17
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of general internal medicine*, *16*(9), 606-613.
- Leibson, C. L., Brown, A. W., Ransom, J. E., Diehl, N. N., Perkins, P. K., Mandrekar, J., & Malec, J. F. (2011). Incidence of traumatic brain injury across the full disease spectrum: a population-based medical record review study. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 22(6), 836–844. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e318231d535
- Liu, W. H., Wang, L. Z., Shang, H. R., Shen, Y., Li, Z., Cheung, E. F., & Chan, R. C. (2014). The influence of anhedonia on feedback negativity in major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychologia*, 53, 213-220.

- Llerena, K., Park, S. G., McCarthy, J. M., Couture, S. M., Bennett, M. E., & Blanchard, J. J. (2013). The Motivation and Pleasure Scale-Self-Report (MAP-SR): reliability and validity of a self-report measure of negative symptoms. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, 54(5), 568–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.12.001
- Lovell, M. R., Iverson, G. L., Collins, M. W., Podell, K., Johnston, K. M., Pardini, D., Pardini, J., Norwig, J., & Maroon, J. C. (2006). Measurement of symptoms following sports-related concussion: reliability and normative data for the post-concussion scale. *Applied neuropsychology*, *13*(3), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324826an1303_4
- Luby, J. L., Mrakotsky, C., Heffelfinger, A., Brown, K., & Spitznagel, E. (2004). Characteristics of depressed preschoolers with and without anhedonia: evidence for a melancholic depressive subtype in young children. *The American journal of psychiatry*, *161*(11), 1998–2004. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.161.11.1998
- McCrae, M. A. (2008). *Mild traumatic brain injury and postconcussion syndrome: The new evidence base for diagnosis and treatment*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- McCrory, P., Meeuwisse, W., Dvorak, J., Aubry, M., Bailes, J., Broglio, S., ... & Davis, G. A. (2017). Consensus statement on concussion in sport—the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. *British journal of sports medicine*, *51*(11), 838-847.
- McFarland, B. R., & Klein, D. N. (2009). Emotional reactivity in depression: diminished responsiveness to anticipated reward but not to anticipated punishment or to nonreward or avoidance. *Depression and anxiety*, *26*(2), 117–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20513

9

- McGuigan, S., Zhou, S. H., Brosnan, M. B., Thyagarajan, D., Bellgrove, M. A., & Chong, T. T. (2019). Dopamine restores cognitive motivation in Parkinson's disease. *Brain : a journal* of neurology, 142(3), 719–732. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy341
- McMakin, D. L., Olino, T. M., Porta, G., Dietz, L. J., Emslie, G., Clarke, G., ... & Shamseddeen,
 W. (2012). Anhedonia predicts poorer recovery among youth with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor treatment–resistant depression. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(4), 404-411.
- Meares, S., Shores, E. A., Taylor, A. J., Batchelor, J., Bryant, R. A., Baguley, I. J., ... & Marosszeky, J. E. (2011). The prospective course of postconcussion syndrome: The role of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, 25(4), 454.
- Meares, S., Shores, E. A., Batchelor, J., Baguley, I. J., Chapman, J., Gurka, J., & Marosszeky, J.
 E. (2006). The relationship of psychological and cognitive factors and opioids in the development of the postconcussion syndrome in general trauma patients with mild traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS*, *12*(6), 792–801. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617706060978
- Mittenberg, W., DiGiulio, D. V., Perrin, S., & Bass, A. E. (1992). Symptoms following mild head injury: expectation as aetiology. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry*, 55(3), 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.55.3.200
- Mooney, G., & Speed, J. (2001). The association between mild traumatic brain injury and psychiatric conditions. *Brain injury*, *15*(10), 865–877. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050110065286
- Moran, E. K., Culbreth, A. J., Kandala, S., & Barch, D. M. (2019). From neuroimaging to daily functioning: A multimethod analysis of reward anticipation in people with

schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *128*(7), 723–734. https://doiorg.foyer.swmed.edu/10.1037/abn0000461

- Morelli, S. A., Torre, J. B., & Eisenberger, N. I. (2014). The neural bases of feeling understood and not understood. *Social cognitive and affective neuroscience*, 9(12), 1890–1896. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nst191
- Mullally W. J. (2017). Concussion. *The American journal of medicine*, *130*(8), 885–892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2017.04.016
- National Institute of Mental Health. Research Domain Criteria. Retrieved May 27, 2019 from https://www.nimh.nih.gov/research/research-funded-by-nimh/rdoc/index.shtml
- Nolin, P., & Heroux, L. (2006). Relations among sociodemographic, neurologic, clinical, and neuropsychologic variables, and vocational status following mild traumatic brain injury: a follow-up study. *The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation*, 21(6), 514-526.
- Nusslock, R., & Alloy, L. B. (2017). Reward processing and mood-related symptoms: An RDoC and translational neuroscience perspective. *Journal of affective disorders*, 216, 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.02.001
- Pelizza, L., & Ferrari, A. (2009). Anhedonia in schizophrenia and major depression: state or trait?. *Annals of General Psychiatry*, 8(1), 22.
- Ponsford, J., Cameron, P., Fitzgerald, M., Grant, M., Mikocka-Walus, A., & Schönberger, M. (2012). Predictors of postconcussive symptoms 3 months after mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, 26(3), 304.
- Proudfit G. H. (2015). The reward positivity: from basic research on reward to a biomarker for depression. *Psychophysiology*, 52(4), 449–459. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.12370

Ribot, T. (1917). La psychologie des sentiments. Félix Alcan.

- Rizvi, S. J., Quilty, L. C., Sproule, B. A., Cyriac, A., Michael Bagby, R., & Kennedy, S. H.
 (2015). Development and validation of the Dimensional Anhedonia Rating Scale (DARS) in a community sample and individuals with major depression. *Psychiatry research*, 229(1-2), 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.07.062
- Rømer-Thomsen, K., Whybrow, P. C., & Kringelbach, M. L. (2015). Reconceptualizing anhedonia: Novel perspectives on balancing the pleasure networks in the brain. *Frontiers in Psychology*.
- Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Wisniewski, S. R., Nierenberg, A. A., Stewart, J. W., Warden, D., Niederehe, G., Thase, M. E., Lavori, P. W., Lebowitz, B. D., McGrath, P. J., Rosenbaum, J. F., Sackeim, H. A., Kupfer, D. J., Luther, J., & Fava, M. (2006). Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR*D report. *The American journal of psychiatry*, *163*(11), 1905–1917. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.11.1905
- Rush, A. J., Warden, D., Wisniewski, S. R., Fava, M., Trivedi, M. H., Gaynes, B. N., & Nierenberg, A. A. (2009). STAR* D. CNS drugs, 23(8), 627-647.
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Mingote, S., & Weber, S. M. (2003). Nucleus accumbens dopamine and the regulation of effort in food-seeking behavior: implications for studies of natural motivation, psychiatry, and drug abuse. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*, 305(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.102.035063
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Farrar, A., & Mingote, S. M. (2007). Effort-related functions of nucleus accumbens dopamine and associated forebrain circuits. *Psychopharmacology*, *191*(3), 461–482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0668-9

Salamone, J. D., & Correa, M. (2012). The mysterious motivational functions of mesolimbic dopamine. *Neuron*, 76(3), 470–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.021

Salthouse, T. A. (2016). *Theoretical perspectives on cognitive aging*. Psychology Press.

- Schiller, C. E., Minkel, J., Smoski, M. J., & Dichter, G. S. (2013). Remitted major depression is characterized by reduced prefrontal cortex reactivity to reward loss. *Journal of affective disorders*, 151(2), 756–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.06.016
- Schneider, M., Heise, V., & Spanagel, R. (2010). Differential involvement of the opioid receptor antagonist naloxone in motivational and hedonic aspects of reward. *Behavioural brain research*, 208(2), 466–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2009.12.013
- Scholten, A. C., Haagsma, J. A., Cnossen, M. C., Olff, M., van Beeck, E. F., & Polinder, S. (2016). Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Anxiety and Depressive Disorders after Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review. *Journal of neurotrauma*, *33*(22), 1969–1994. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2015.4252
- Schultz, W., Dayan, P., & Montague, P. R. (1997). A neural substrate of prediction and reward. Science (New York, N.Y.), 275(5306), 1593–1599. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.275.5306.1593
- Schultz W. (2002). Getting formal with dopamine and reward. *Neuron*, *36*(2), 241–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00967-4
- Schultz, W. (2015). Neuronal Reward and Decision Signals: From Theories to Data. *Physiological Reviews*, 95(3), 853–951. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00023.2014
- Schultz W. (2016). Reward functions of the basal ganglia. *Journal of neural transmission* (*Vienna, Austria : 1996*), *123*(7), 679–693. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-016-1510-0

- Shankman, S. A., Klein, D. N., Tenke, C. E., & Bruder, G. E. (2007). Reward sensitivity in depression: a biobehavioral study. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *116*(1), 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.116.1.95
- Sherdell, L., Waugh, C. E., & Gotlib, I. H. (2012). Anticipatory pleasure predicts motivation for reward in major depression. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *121*(1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024945
- Silverberg, N. D., Duhaime, A. C., & Iaccarino, M. A. (2020). Mild Traumatic Brain Injury in 2019-2020. *Jama*, *323*(2), 177-178.
- Solomon, G. S., Kuhn, A. W., & Zuckerman, S. L. (2016). Depression as a modifying factor in sport-related concussion: a critical review of the literature. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, 44(1), 14-19.
- Spijker, J., Bijl, R. V., De Graaf, R., & Nolen, W. A. (2001). Determinants of poor 1-year outcome of DSM-III-R major depression in the general population: results of the Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS). Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 103(2), 122-130.
- Stålnacke, B. M. (2007). Community integration, social support and life satisfaction in relation to symptoms 3 years after mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain injury*, *21*(9), 933-942.
- Stillman, A. M., Madigan, N., Torres, K., Swan, N., & Alexander, M. P. (2019). Subjective Cognitive Complaints in Concussion. *Journal of neurotrauma*.
- Szczepanik, J. E., Reed, J. L., Nugent, A. C., Ballard, E. D., Evans, J. W., Lejuez, C. W., & Zarate, C. A. (2019). Mapping anticipatory anhedonia: an fMRI study. *Brain imaging and behavior*, 13(6), 1624-1634.

- Takahashi, T., Yücel, M., Lorenzetti, V., Tanino, R., Whittle, S., Suzuki, M., Walterfang, M.,
 Pantelis, C., & Allen, N. B. (2010). Volumetric MRI study of the insular cortex in
 individuals with current and past major depression. *Journal of affective disorders*, *121*(3),
 231–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2009.06.003
- Thibodeau, R., Jorgensen, R. S., & Kim, S. (2006). Depression, anxiety, and resting frontal EEG asymmetry: a meta-analytic review. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *115*(4), 715–729. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.115.4.715
- Tomer, R., Slagter, H. A., Christian, B. T., Fox, A. S., King, C. R., Murali, D., ... Davidson, R. J. (2014). Love to win or hate to lose? Asymmetry of dopamine D2 receptor binding predicts sensitivity to reward versus punishment. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_00544
- Treadway, Michael T., Buckholtz, J. W., Schwartzman, A. N., Lambert, W. E., & Zald, D. H. (2009). Worth the "EEfRT"? The effort expenditure for rewards task as an objective measure of motivation and anhedonia. *PLoS ONE*, 4(8), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006598
- Treadway, Michael T., & Zald, D. H. (2011). Reconsidering anhedonia in depression: Lessons from translational neuroscience. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(3), 537– 555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.06.006
- Treadway, Michael T., Bossaller, N. A., Shelton, R. C., & Zald, D. H. (2012). Effort-based decision-making in major depressive disorder: A translational model of motivational anhedonia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(3), 553–558. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028813

- Treadway, M. T., Bossaller, N. A., Shelton, R. C., & Zald, D. H. (2012). Effort-based decisionmaking in major depressive disorder: a translational model of motivational anhedonia. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *121*(3), 553–558. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028813
- Treadway, M. T., Buckholtz, J. W., Cowan, R. L., Woodward, N. D., Li, R., Ansari, M. S., ... Zald, D. H. (2012). Dopaminergic Mechanisms of Individual Differences in Human Effort-Based Decision-Making. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(18), 6170–6176. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6459-11.2012
- Treadway, Michael T., & Zald, D. H. (2013). Parsing Anhedonia: Translational Models of Reward-Processing Deficits in Psychopathology. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721412474460
- Trew J. L. (2011). Exploring the roles of approach and avoidance in depression: an integrative model. *Clinical psychology review*, 31(7), 1156–1168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.07.007
- Trivedi, M. H., Rush, A. J., Wisniewski, S. R., Nierenberg, A. A., Warden, D., Ritz, L.,
 Norquist, G., Howland, R. H., Lebowitz, B., McGrath, P. J., Shores-Wilson, K., Biggs,
 M. M., Balasubramani, G. K., Fava, M., & STAR*D Study Team (2006). Evaluation of outcomes with citalopram for depression using measurement-based care in STAR*D:
 implications for clinical practice. *The American journal of psychiatry*, *163*(1), 28–40.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.163.1.28
- Trivedi, M. H., Fatt, C. R. C., Jha, M. K., Cooper, C. M., Trombello, J. M., Mason, B. L., ... & Fuller, A. K. (2020). Comprehensive phenotyping of depression disease trajectory and

risk: rationale and design of Texas Resilience Against Depression study (T-RAD). *Journal of psychiatric research*, *122*, 22-32.

- Vanderploeg, R. D., Curtiss, G., Luis, C. A., & Salazar, A. M. (2007). Long-term morbidities following self-reported mild traumatic brain injury. *Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology*, 29(6), 585–598. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390600826587
- Vargas, G., Rabinowitz, A., Meyer, J., & Arnett, P. A. (2015). Predictors and prevalence of postconcussion depression symptoms in collegiate athletes. *Journal of athletic training*, 50(3), 250-255.
- Wacker, J., Mueller, E. M., Pizzagalli, D. A., Hennig, J., & Stemmler, G. (2013). Dopamine-D2-Receptor Blockade Reverses the Association Between Trait Approach Motivation and Frontal Asymmetry in an Approach-Motivation Context. *Psychological Science*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612458935
- Wager, T. D., Davidson, M. L., Hughes, B. L., Lindquist, M. A., & Ochsner, K. N. (2008).
 Prefrontal-subcortical pathways mediating successful emotion regulation. *Neuron*, 59(6), 1037–1050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.09.006
- Wardenaar, K. J., Giltay, E. J., van Veen, T., Zitman, F. G., & Penninx, B. W. (2012). Symptom dimensions as predictors of the two-year course of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Journal of affective disorders*, *136*(3), 1198-1203.
- Westheide, J., Wagner, M., Quednow, B. B., Hoppe, C., Cooper-Mahkorn, D., Strater, B., Maier,
 W., & Kuhn, K. U. (2007). Neuropsychological performance in partly remitted unipolar
 depressive patients: focus on executive functioning. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, 257(7), 389–395. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-007-0740-4

- Whitton, A. E., Treadway, M. T., & Pizzagalli, D. A. (2015). Reward processing dysfunction in major depression, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. *Current opinion in psychiatry*, 28(1), 7.
- Wise, R. A. (1982). Neuroleptics and operant behavior: the anhedonia hypothesis. *Behavioral and brain sciences*, *5*(1), 39-53.
- Wise RA, Spindler J, de Wit H, Gerber GJ (1978). Neuroleptic-induced "anhedonia" in rats: pimozide blocks reward quality of food. *Science 201*:262–264
- Yang, X. H., Huang, J., Zhu, C. Y., Wang, Y. F., Cheung, E. F., Chan, R. C., & Xie, G. R. (2014). Motivational deficits in effort-based decision making in individuals with subsyndromal depression, first-episode and remitted depression patients. *Psychiatry research*, 220(3), 874–882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.08.056
- Yrondi, A., Brauge, D., LeMen, J., Arbus, C., & Pariente, J. (2017). Depression and sportsrelated concussion: A systematic review. *Presse medicale (Paris, France : 1983)*, 46(10), 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lpm.2017.08.013
- Zhang, W., Chang, S. P., Guo, L., Zhang, K., & Wang, J. (2013). The neural correlates of reward-related processing in major depressive disorder: A meta-analysis of functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 151(2), 531–539. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jad.2013.06.039
- Zisook, S., Lesser, I., Stewart, J. W., Wisniewski, S. R., Balasubramani, G. K., Fava, M., ... & Trivedi, M. H. (2007). Effect of age at onset on the course of major depressive disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *164*(10), 1539-1546.